ORIGINAL IN THE SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 81, ł CURTIN R. COLEM π Petition€ vs. MARIE PRESTON LAND COLEMAN

Respondent

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DCA Case No. 92-1582

CURTIN R. COLEMAN pro se and as Counsel for Petitioner P. O. Box 1625 609 East Market Street, Suite 206 Charlottesville, VA 22902 Tel: (804) 979-6279

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This review involves an appeal from a non-final order entered, *ex parte*, by the trial court pursuant to §61.1301, Fla. Stat. (1991), against the Husband, which Order was entered by the trial court on 22 April 1992 and filed 23 April 1992 (A64-65).

On 20 April 1992, Wife served her Verified Motion for Income Deduction Order (A61-63) which was received by Husband without composite Exhibit "A" referred to therein. On 1 May, Husband received via certified mail a copy of the trial court's Income Deduction Order described above.

On 4 May 1992, Husband served Defendant's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter or Amend Income Deduction Order (A66-68), together with Affidavit of Curtin R. Coleman, II in Support of Defendant's Motion for Rehearing on Income Deduction Order (A69-71).

On 5 May 1992, pursuant to Local Rule No. 7 of the Broward County Circuit Court (A72), Husband served and submitted to the trial court judge his Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendant's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter or Amend Income Deduction Order (A73-75) with copy of Defendant's Motion for Special Order Pursuant to Local Rule No. 7 (A76-77) as enclosures to his letter of 5 May 1992 to The Honorable Patti Englander Henning, the trial court judge (A78).

On 8 May 1992, Wife served Response to Defendant's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter or Amend Income Deduction Order (A79-82) and on 20 May 1992, having had no communication from the

trial court judge with respect to Defendant's Motion for Special Order Pursuant to Local Rule No. 7, the Husband filed his Notice of Appeal of Non-Final Order (A90-91). This appeal became pending in the District Court, as its Case No. 92-1582, along with Husband's appeal in Case No. 92-826 from the final orders entered by the trial court on 5 September 1991 and 23 January 1992, rendered 24 February 1992, in the same case in the trial court.

All briefs were served in Case No. 92-1582 by 10 July 1992 and on 20 July 1992 the District Court, *sua sponte*, entered Order dispensing with oral argument (A92). On 5 August 1992, the District Court, *sua sponte*, ordered that Case Nos. 92-826 and 92-1582 be consolidated for review on the merits (A93).

In the meantime there were delays in preparation of the record and supplemental record in the trial court in Case No. 92-826, primarily because of difficulties in obtaining hearing time for the trial court judge to settle and approve a statement of the evidence and proceedings pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.200(b)(4). This hearing was finally conducted on 25 November 1992 and on 7 January 1993 the trial court judge entered an order which enabled completion of the supplemental record which was thereafter forwarded to the District Court.

On 13 January 1993 the District Court filed an Opinion (A94-95) addressing the single issue presented in Case No. 92-1582. Husband timely filed Motion for Rehearing, And Motion for Rehearing En Banc, Or In The Alternative, Motion to Certify

Question (A96-107). This motion, to a large degree argues that the District Court had failed to fully consider the decision in Schorb v. Schorb, 547 So.2d 985 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) (A108-112).

A second "Corrected Opinion," also dated 13 January 1993, was filed in the District Court and was mailed in envelope postmarked 28 January 1993 (A113-115), the same date on which Husband's Motion for Rehearing was received and filed in the District Court. On telephone inquiry to the Clerk of the District Court Husband was advised to promptly file an Amendment (addressing the Corrected Opinion) to the earlier motion for rehearing which he did and which was received and filed in the District Court on 8 February 1993 (A116-118).

The District Court's Order of 17 March 1993, denying motion for rehearing filed 28 January 1993 (All9) was silent regarding the amendment to Husband's motion for rehearing but on telephone inquiry to the Clerk, Husband was advised that the Order was intended to cover the motion for rehearing, as amended, and thus Husband's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction (Al20) was based on a rendition date of 17 March 1993.

Because of some uncertainty as to the impact on Case No. 92-826 of the District Court's opinions filed 13 January 1993 (A94 and A113) and its Order denying motion for rehearing filed 17 March 1993, Husband filed with the District Court a Motion for Clarification, *inter alia*, suggesting certain confusion possibly arising from the previous Order of Consolidation which motion was adjudicated in the District Court's Order filed 5 May 1993 (A121-

122), *inter alia*, vacating its order of consolidation of 5 August 1992. This Court accepted jurisdiction on 28 May 1993 (A123) and thus this review and this brief deal only with the issues arising from the Income Deduction Order entered 22 April 1992 (A64-65) and the District Court's affirmance in its opinion filed 13 January 1993 (A94 and A113) in its Case No.92-1582.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This cause arises out of a Final Decree (of Divorce) between Husband and Wife dated 31 July 1964 (A 1-16), pursuant to which Husband was obligated to pay to Wife periodic alimony in the sum of \$400.00 per month, plus an annual premium for medical insurance. It is undisputed that Husband promptly paid the required periodic alimony for 25 years in semimonthly installments of \$200.00 until the 15th of August 1989. It is also undisputed that Husband has made no payment of periodic alimony subsequent to 15 August 1989 although he has continued to make the required annual premium payment for medical insurance.

On 14 November 1989, Husband filed Former Husband's Supplemental Petition for Modification (A 17) which was thereafter served by certified mail. On 20 June 1990, Wife filed Response to Former Husband's Supplemental Petition for Modification, Affirmative Defenses and Counter-Petition for Contempt (A 18-20). Thereafter, on 12 July 1990, Husband served Former Husband's Reply to Affirmative Defense (A 21-22) and Former Husband's Response to Former Wife's Counter-Petition for Contempt (A 23-25). On 8 May 1991, Wife served her Pre-Trial Statement (A26-28), followed by Husband's Pretrial Statement (A29-34, LESS exhibits).

It is undisputed that this cause came to trial in the trial court on 6 June (partial day) and 27 August (partial day) 1991, and on 27 August 1991, at the conclusion of Husband's evidence on his Supplemental Petition for Modification, Wife's counsel moved

for a "directed verdict" in support of Wife's contention that Husband had not shown his changed circumstances or adverse financial ability to be of a permanent nature and the trial court orally granted Wife's motion. Thereafter, the trial court entered Order and Judgment of Dismissal on Petiton [sic] for Modification on 5 September 1991 (A35). It is undisputed that Husband thereafter timely served Motion for Rehearing with supporting Affidavit and Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment with respect to the Order and Judgment of Dismissal on Petiton [sic] for Modification, the Motion for Rehearing and First Amendment thereto having been denied by the trial court on 21 February 1992 (A52), and his Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment having been granted by Order dated 6 March 1992 (A53-54). The altered Order and Judgment of Dismissal on Petition for Modification dated 5 September 1991, rendered 24 February 1992 is a subject of Husband's appeal in Case No. 92-826 still pending in the District Court, presently awaiting disposition without oral argument.

On 28 October 1991, Wife served her Application for Judgment (A36-37), together with Wife's Affidavit (A38), and by Notice of Hearing served 30 October 1992 (A39), Wife's Application for Judgment was set on the motion calendar of the trial court judge on 19 November 1991. Thereafter, on 8 November 1991, Husband served Defendant's Response to and Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Application for Judgment (A40-44), Defendant's Motion for Continuance (A45-46) and Notice of Hearing on these two pleadings also for the motion calendar of the trial court on 19 November

1991 (A47-48). On 19 November 1991 (following argument by Wife's counsel in Chambers and by Husband on telephone), the trial court entered its Order (A49) on a portion of the matters noticed for its motion calendar and on 5 December, the trial court entered, on a virtual *ex parte* basis, Judgment of Arrearage (A50). On 23 January 1992, the trial court entered, *ex parte*, an Amended Judgment of Arrearage (A51).

It is undisputed that Husband timely filed Motion for Rehearing with supporting Affidavits with respect to both the Judgment of Arrearage and Amended Judgment of Arrearage. Following argument by both parties on 19 February 1992, the trial court, on 6 March 1992, entered Order Vacating Judgment of Arrearage of December 5, 1991 (A55-56) and by Order dated 21 February 1992 (A52) denied Husband's Motion for Rehearing on the Amended Judgment of Arrearage, and thus the Amended Judgment of Arrearage dated 23 January 1992, rendered 24 February 1992, is also a subject of Husband's appeal in Case No. 92-826 still pending in the District Court, presently awaiting disposition without oral argument.

Defendant's Second Motion for Stay Pending Review (A57-60) was argued before the trial court on 19 February 1992 and denied by Order dated 21 February 1992 (A52).

It is undisputed that Wife served her Verified Motion for Income Deduction Order (A61-63) on 20 April 1992, less composite Exhibit "A" referred to therein, and that the trial court, *ex*

parte, on 22 April 1992 entered the Income Deduction Order (A64-65) which is the subject of Husband's appeal from a nonfinal order (A90-91) and the District Court's decisions of 13 January 1993 (A94 and A113) being reviewed by this Court.

It is also undisputed as follows:

 A copy of the Income Deduction Order (A64-65) was received via certified mail by Husband on 1 May 1992.

2) On 4 May 1992, Husband served Defendant's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter or Amend Income Deduction Order (A66-68) and Affidavit of Curtin R. Coleman, II in Support of Defendant's Motion for Rehearing on Income Deduction Order (A69-71).

3) Pursuant to Local Rule No. 7, Broward County Circuit Court (A72), Husband, on 5 May 1992, submitted to the trial court judge his Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendant's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter or Amend Income Deduction Order (A73-75) and Defendant's Motion for Special Order Pursuant to Local Rule No. 7 (A76-77) and by letter of 5 May 1992 to the trial court judge, requested her action pursuant to Local Rule No. 7 (A78).

4) Wife, on 8 May 1992, served Response to Defendant's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter or Amend Income Deduction Order (A79-82).

5) That as of 20 May 1992 (the date of filing of the appeal to the District Court), the trial court judge had taken no action with respect to the Income Deduction Order.

Although, for reasons unknown, in Wife's Response to Former Husband's Supplemental Petition for Modification (A18-20) she

denied the allegations of paragraph 4.c of Former Husband's Supplemental Petition for Modification (A17), it is undisputed that Wife is not living with minor children. See Wife's Response (A80) and also Husband's Affidavit (A69-71), which is not disputed or controverted by Wife.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Husband argues that the trial court erred in utilizing \$61.1301, Fla. Stat. (1991), to enforce orders or judgments of periodic alimony or delinquent periodic alimony to a former spouse not living with a child by failing to follow the authority in Schorb v. Schorb, 547 So. 2d 985 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

Husband argues that the District Court incorrectly failed to consider the statutory support for the decision in *Schorb v. Schorb*, *supra*, and especially in finding that the enforcement of <u>any</u> alimony obligation requires an income deduction order. To the extent that the Fourth District Court goes so for as to make the use of income deduction orders mandatory, Husband argues that the Fourth District Court not only disagrees expressly and directly with *Schorb* but extends the scope and legislative intent of such orders, requiring the addressing of its holding in this respect as a separate issue in this brief. Under this separate issue Husband argues, *inter alia*, that the Income Deduction Order in the case at bar is clearly invalid as to future alimony deductions.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN UTILIZING § 61.1301, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO ENFORCE ORDERS WHICH PROVIDE SUPPORT TO A FORMER SPOUSE NOT LIVING WITH A CHILD.

Undersigned counsel, remembering the lesson he was taught as counsel for the appellant in *Everhart v. Everhart & Co.*, 139 So.2d 747 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962), promptly sought relief from the trial court's, *ex parte*, Income Deduction Order (A 64-65) by the actions reflected in his Petitioner's Appendix (A 66-78), before going to the District Court but to no avail.

From the supporting Affidavit filed concurrently with appellant's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter or Amend Income Deduction Order (A 69-71), from Wife's Response to Defendant's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter or Amend Income Deduction Order (A 79-82), from the pretrial statements of both Wife and Husband (A 26-34), served and filed in the trial court, and from the pleadings filed in the trial court by each of the parties and the orders and judgments entered by the trial court, it is abundantly clear that respondent, Marie Preston Land Coleman, is <u>not</u> "a former spouse living with a child."

In Schorb v. Schorb, 547 So.2d 985 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), it was held that \$61.1301, Fla. Stat. (1987), should be used by trial courts only to enforce orders which provide support to a child or to a former spouse living with a child.

In State v. Hayes, 333 So.2d 51 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), Point I before the District Court was:

Is a Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Circuit of Florida "bound" by the decision of a District Court of Appeal other than the Fourth District Court of Appeal?

tò which question the District Court answered in the affirmative. Thus the trial court should have followed Schorb v. Schorb, supra, which was brought to its attention in Husband's Motion for Rehearing (A66), but this motion was not read by the trial court before Husband was required to appeal its non-final Income Deduction Order. Because the Income Deduction Order was entered *ex parte* Husband had no opportunity to cite the Schorb decision before its entry.

Additionally, the District Court in Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services of the State of Florida, et al v. Reed, 560 So.2d 426 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), affirmed per curiam on the authority of Schorb v. Schorb, supra. Although the PCA opinion in Reed does not reflect which aspect of the Schorb opinion it relies on as authority, it is submitted that because there was only one express "holding" in Schorb which was the one dealing with the proper utilization of income deduction orders, that this holding is the "authority" followed in the Reed decision. The Reed decision was also cited in Husband's unread trial court Motion for Rehearing (A66).

The Schorb court was squarely confronted with the statutory intent of §61.1301(1)(a) Fla. Stat. (1987) and especially such

terms as "obligor", "support" and "support payments" as employed in Chapter 61 and elsewhere in Florida Statutes. The common denominator was Chapter 86-220, Laws of Florida, enacted primarily to protect child support payments. Following time honored statutory intent rules the Second District in Schorb decided as follows:

> Accordingly, we hold that section 61.1301, Florida Statutes (1987), should be used by trial courts only to enforce orders which provide support to a child or to a former spouse living with a child. Since the order entered by the lower court does not involve a child, it must be vacated by the trial court on remand. (A110)

Although the Schorb court's holding was based on a construction of §61.1301, Fla. Stat. (1987) it is submitted that its statutory construction and rationale apply to the Income Deduction Order dated 22 April 1992 in the case at bar. Although there were amendments to §61.1301 subsequent to 1987 they do not dictate a different result than Schorb, but to the contrary fortify the Schorb decision.

It is especially significant that the Schorb court construed §61.1301, Fla Stat. (1987) [emphasis added], which section ended with Subsection (2)(k) whereas the Fourth District in the case at bar construed §61.1301, Fla. Stat. (1991) [emphasis added] to which the Legislature by Chapter 88-176, Laws of Florida had added subsection (3) providing: "It is the intent of the Legislature that this section may [emphasis added] be used to collect arrearages in child support payments which have accrued against an obligor." §61.1301(3), Fla. Stat. (1988 Supp.)

After the submission of Appellant's Initial Brief in the District Court Husband received the 1992 Supplement to Florida Statutes, 1991, which contains a revision to Chapter 88, Florida Statutes, which already contained a definition of "Support orders." This chapter now contains the following addition:

\$88.031(20) "Support includes:

- (a) <u>Support for a child, or child and spouse, or former spouse who is living with the child or children</u>, but only if a support obligation has been established for that spouse and the child support obligation is being enforced under Title IV-D of the Social Security Act; or
- (b) Support for a child who is placed under the custody of someone other than the parent pursuant to s39.41." [emphasis added]

Rather than seeing legislative action disapproving Schorb we see the Legislature adopting the rationale of Schorb and it would appear to include the express legislative disapproval of the result in State ex rel. Quigley v Quigley, 463 So.2d 224 (Fla. 1985). \$88.012, Fla. Stat. (1991) continued to declare that the public policy of this state is that this act shall be construed and administered to the end that children residing in this or some other state shall be maintained from the resources of responsible

parents, etc.

The 1992 Supplement to Florida Statutes 1991 continues to include the same definition of "Support" as in \$409.2554, Fla. Stat. 1987 and 1991 as well as the same Legislative intent (\$409.2551).

In summary, the Legislature apparently enacted §88.031(20), Fla. Stat. (1992 Supp.) to change the result in cases like Quigley,

supra decided in 1985. It is also obvious that the Legislature through 1992 did not have any trouble with the Schorb result and, with the exception of adding the <u>permissive</u> language of subsection (3) to §61.1301 in 1988, left intact the portions of §61.1301 construed by Schorb.

The very recently published American Heritage Dictionary of The English Language (3d ed.) defines "support" as "Maintenance, as of a <u>family</u>, with the necessities of life" (emphasis supplied).

This Court is obviously aware of the trend in recent years for the general public to express to the legislatures and the courts a dissatisfaction with the number of scofflaws who ignore child support orders. The Florida Legislature has reacted in various ways to this demand and one only needs to peruse the tàble of contents of Chapters 61, 88 and 409, Fla. Stat. (1991) to see the emphasis placed on "child support" and to some degree "family support" as opposed to statutory "alimony." Florida Statutes reflect that the Legislature has had an active vocal constituency for "child support" enforcement as contrasted to whatever constituency it may have for collection and enforcement of alimony.

It is respectfully suggested that the District Court overlooked or failed to consider the intent of the Florida Legislature in enacting Session Law Chapter 86-220 primarily to enforce child support payments.

It is respectfully suggested the District Court, in its

opinion, overlooked or failed to consider the primary statutes provided by the Legislature for the collection and enforcement of pure alimony (unconnected with child support) which are §61.08 and §61.14, Fla. Stat. (1991). Nowhere has the Florida Legislature provided that "the enforcement of any alimony obligation requires an income deduction order" or words to that effect. Unfortunately legislative draftsmanship has never attained the status of an exact science and thus the courts in their judicial labors wrestle with statutory construction in an effort to determine legislative intent. The Florida Legislature has provided a number of statutory tools to the trial courts of this state for the purpose of collecting and enforcing the payment of both child support and statutory alimony. Certainly it is not the legislative intent for a trial judge to engage in "overkill" and employ each and every enforcement tool in each and every case. For example, the word "shall" is used in \$61.1301(1)(a) Fla. Stat. (1991) four times. It is submitted that a logical construction of the first "shall" could be the word "may" in a proper case. See such an example in §61.1301(3), Fla. Stat. (1988 Supp.) as the Legislative intent. In considering §61.1301(1)(b)1., Fla. Stat. (1991), what if there is no "payor" to direct? If so, the proper tool, and perhaps the only one needed by the trial judge, could be contempt proceedings.

Footnote 2 in the District Court's Opinion filed 13 January 1993 (All4) makes reference to "impecunious former spouses" and

"a needy former spouse living alone." If the District Court assumed that Wife in the instant case is either "impecunious" or "needy," we respectfully hasten to correct that assumption. Unfortunately in this case the Husband is the "needy spouse." See the respective financial conditions of the parties in Appendix of Petitioner (A83-89).

Some members of this Court may question why the Husband has not raised the constitutional issues of due process and access to the courts considering the number of *ex parte* orders and virtual *ex parte* orders entered by the trial court in these proceedings. To be candid with the Court these issues have been raised as to the Amended Judgment of Arrearage (A51) in Case No. 92-826 still pending in the Fourth District based on these issues raised in the trial court in Defendant's Motion for Rehearing on Amended Judgment of Arrearage (A124-137).

Because the *ex parte* Income Deduction Order (A64-65) was entered as an enforcement measure to the Amended Judgment of Arrearage (A51) the Income Deduction Order should necessarily be vacated if the Amended Judgment of Arrearage was improperly entered. However, Husband, in requesting discretionary review by this Court pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(iv), considered it inappropriate to request this Court at this time to review the constitutional aspect of these proceedings on which the Fourth District has not yet rendered a decision. Most certainly the propriety of the Income Deduction Order will not become moot should the District Court affirm the Amended Judgment

of Arrearage and depending upon the exact decision the District Court will make, may continue to be an issue which should be resolved by this Court on its discretionary review, despite the refusal of the District Court to certify the question.

It is respectfully submitted that because the Income Deduction Order entered by the trial court was not used to provide support to a child or to a former spouse living with a child, the decision of the District Court should be quashed, with directions to the District Court to remand this case to the trial court with instructions to vacate the Income Deduction Order.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE ENFORCEMENT OF ANY ALIMONY OBLIGATION REQUIRES AN INCOME DEDUCTION ORDER

The Fourth District, in its Opinions filed 13 January 1993 (A94 and A113), not only expressly and directly disagreed with Schorb v. Schorb, supra, but went on hold:

Income deduction orders are not limited by the statute to households with minor children. The applicable provision of section 61.1301(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1991), reads:

> Upon the entry of an order establishing, enforcing, or modifying an alimony or a child support obligation, the court shall enter a separate order for income deduction if one has not been entered.

The unmistakable meaning of this text is that the enforcement of <u>any</u> alimony obligation requires an income deduction order. Here the court obviously enforced the unpaid alimony by a money judgment. That judicial action was enough to require the separate income deduction order.² AFFIRMED. (A114)

By footnote in which the Fourth District disagrees with Schorb, it appears to justify this disagreement on the basis that \$61.1301(1)(a) is not ambiguous on its face. It is respectfully suggested that, among other things, the Fourth District overlooked or misinterpreted the addition of subsection (3) to \$61.1301, Fla. Stat. (1987) by Chapter 88-176, Laws of Florida which most certainly conflicts with the language of \$61.1301(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1991). We further suggest that applying accepted principles of statutory construction, the clearly <u>permissive</u> language of subsection (3) becomes controlling rather than creating an ambiguity.

The District Court's attention was also invited to §61.14 Fla. Stat. (1991) which includes subsections (2) and (3) reading in part as follows:

- "(2) No court has jurisdiction to entertain any action to enforce the recovery of separate support, maintenance, or alimony other than as herein provided.
 - (3) This section is declaratory of existing public policy and of the laws of this state."

In rendering its decision the District Court did not comment on the apparent conflict between §61.14 and §61.1301(1)(a) Fla. Stat. (1991).

With regard to the addition to Footnote 2, first appearing in the District Court's Corrected Opinion (All4), citing as authorities the opinions in Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Huntington National Bank, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S750, S751 (Fla. Dec. 17, 1992) and Streeter v. Sullivan, 509 So. 2d 268, 271 (Fla. 1987), it is respectfully submitted that the District Court overlooked or failed to consider the clear legislative intent (as distinguished from the legislative history) in the enactment of Session Law Chapter 86-220 and reenactments of, together with amendments to, Chapters 61, 88 and 409, Florida Statutes, since the publication of Florida Statutes 1986 and 1987, sections of which were construed in Schorb v. Schorb, supra, and especially the 1988 addition of subsection (3) to §61.1301, Florida Statutes.

As pointed out above and also in Issue I, §61.1301(3) Fla.

Stat. (1991) reads:

(3) It is the intent of the Legislature that this section <u>may</u> be used to collect <u>arrearages</u> in <u>child</u> <u>support</u> payments which have been accrued against an obligor. [emphasis added]

A reasonable interpretation of this section added by Chapter 88-176, Laws of Florida is that the use of §61.1301, Fla. Stat. (1991) is permissive rather than mandatory, that it may be used only in child support situations and that it as to <u>arrearages</u> it is permissive rather than mandatory. Because of the clear intention that the adoption of Chapter 86-220, Laws of Florida was to deal with child support as opposed to alimony it is not reasonable for it to be interpreted in the present case in 1991 that its use to collect arrearages in alimony is mandatory and to collect arrearages in child support is permissive.

Even if §61.1301, Fla. Stat. (1991) was properly used in the case at bar by using the terms "alimony" and "child support" interchangeably it is suggested that it would apply <u>only</u> to "arrearages." This was not done in the trial court's Income Deduction Order (A64-65) which also erroneously ordered the deduction of \$400.00 per month of <u>future</u> alimony payments.

In the District Court opinions of 13 January 1993 (A95 and A114) it said regarding \$61.1301(1)(a) Fla. Stat. (1991):

Upon the entry of an order establishing, enforcing, or modifying an alimony or a child support obligation, the court shall enter a separate order for income deduction if one has not been entered.

The unmistakable meaning of this text is that the enforcement of <u>any</u> alimony obligation requires an income deduction order. Here the court obviously

enforced the <u>unpaid alimony</u> [emphasis added] by a money judgment.

It is submitted that \$61.1301(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1991) should be construed in its entirety which reads:

(a) Upon the entry of an order establishing, enforcing, or modifying an <u>alimony or a child support</u> obligation, the court shall enter a separate order for income deduction if one has not been entered. Copies of the orders shall be served on the <u>obligee</u> and <u>obligor</u>. If the <u>support order</u> directs that support payments be made through the depository, the court shall provide a copy of the <u>support order</u> to the depository. If the obligee is a IV-D applicant, the court shall furnish copies of the <u>support order</u> and the income deduction order to the IV-D agency. [emphasis added]

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