IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,610

CURTIN R. COLEMAN, II,

Petitioner

vs.

MARIE PRESTON LAND COLEMAN

Respondent

RESPONDENT'S REPLY BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DCA CASE NO. 92-1582

DONALD K. CORBIN, ESQUIRE
Counsel for the Respondent/Wife
727 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 301
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33304
305-523-4112
Florida Bar Number 179710

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Wife argues that the use of <u>Florida Statutes (1991)</u> 61.1301 to enforce orders or judgments of periodic alimony to a former spouse living without minor children is not only contemplated by the statutes, but is demanded by the statutes.

The clear and unmistakable language of <u>Florida Statutes</u> 61.1301 (1)(a) dictates that the Court shall enter an Income Deduction Order in alimony or child support cases.

The intent of the Legislature is further buttressed by the clear language adopted in recent amendments to Chapter 61 by the 1993 Session of the Florida Legislature.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN UTILIZING FLORIDA STATUTES 61.1301 TO ENFORCE ORDERS WHICH PROVIDE SUPPORT TO A FORMER SPOUSE NOT LIVING WITH A CHILD?

The clear and unmistakable language of <u>Florida Statues (1991)</u> 61.1301 (1)(a) reads:

Upon the entry of an order establishing, enforcing, or modifying an alimony <u>or</u> a child support obligation, the court shall enter a separate order for income deduction if one has not been entered. (emphasis added)

The trial court on Verified Motion by the Wife in this cause entered an Income Deduction Order against the Husband after an attempt by the Husband to modify his alimony obligation by eliminating the award. The Wife, relying on the clear language of the Statute applied for and received an Income Deduction Order against the Husband's pay as a Naval Reserve Officer.

The Husband attacks the Income Deduction Order citing that the Wife did not live with minor children, a fact the Wife does not deny, and relying on the Opinion of Schorb v. Schorb, 547 So 2d 985 (Florida 2d DCA, 1989) and Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services of the State of Florida, et al v. Reed, 560 So 2d 426 (Florida 4th DCA, 1990).

The <u>Reed</u> case must be addressed first. The <u>Reed</u> case is a "per curiam" affirmance. This Court cannot go behind a "per curiam" opinion to analyze anything except the record proper. To speculate what part of <u>Schorb</u> the "per curiam" affirmance in <u>Reed</u>

refers to, as the Husband would urge, transcends the rules of appellate review.

Schorb v. Schorb, supra, which is the Husband's other defense, is, simply put, "bad law". The opinion in Schorb admits that on its face the statutory provision of Florida Statute 61.1301 (1)(a) applies to alimony (Schorb at page 987). Schorb admits that the provisions of Florida Statute, Chapter 61 are to be liberally construed to protect a spouse from possible harm (Schorb at page 988). Yet, given the admitted clear language, the Schorb court delves behind that language to assign a legislative intent to the statute on income deductions that would attempt to render it powerless in the case of an elderly spouse dependent on that income unless that spouse resides with minor children.

While the <u>Schorb</u> court and the Husband in his brief argue word meaning, definition, usage of the same words in different statutes, and all of the proper arguments for a law school final exam in legislation, the Second District and the Husband fail to answer the very basic question, "Why would the Florida Legislature want to limit a very effective tool for the payment of family maintenance to only alimony connected with child support when needy spouses need the same effective tool?"

The answer is clearly that the Legislature wishes the Income Deduction Order to be available to all those who are dependent on support from parents \underline{or} ex-spouses.

The Husband argues that the Legislature attempts to answer to the general public outcry against "scofflaws" who don't pay support for their children. Obviously, the Husband feels there is no public outcry against "scofflaws" who don't pay their alimony to their ex-spouses for he is one of those "scofflaws". The Wife submits to the Court that the Florida Legislature wishes to protect needy spouses be they with or without children.

The Florida Legislature in its 1993 Session has made major revisions in Chapter 61. Senate Bill 428, Florida Senate Legislative Session of 1993 amended major portions of Florida Statute 61.1301 (1)(a) in the following manner:

Upon the entry of an order establishing, enforcing or modifying an <u>obligation for alimony</u>, for child support, or for alimony and child support, the court shall enter a separate order for income deduction... (changed portion of statute underlined)

The Senate Bill passed 36 Ayes O NAYS and was presented to the Governor who signed it on May 5, 1992.

The 1993 Legislature did not change the wording above to change the law as argued by the Husband. The Wife submits the Legislature passed the bill to clarify its intent which was sorely misconstrued in <u>Schorb v. Schorb</u>, supra.

The Fourth District in its Correct Opinion dated January 13, 1993 in the instant case states in footnote 2 (A-114):

... the legislative history of a statute is irrelevant where the wording of a statute is, as here, clear and unambiguous. Aetna Casualty and Surety Co. v. Huntington National Bank, 17 Florida Law Weekly 5750 (Florida, 12/17/92). An inquiry into legislative intent may be conducted only where the statute is ambiguous on its face. Streeter v. Sullivan, 509 So 2d 268, 271 (Florida, 1987).

In quoting this Court, the Fourth District restrained itself from delving into legislative constructions and simply reading the clear language provided by Florida Statute 61.1301 (1)(a) (1991).

It should be remembered by the judicial system and those that

operate in it that the need to interpret statutory language may involve just reading the words and applying their common meaning. It is submitted that the <u>Schorb</u> court forgot that simple rule reiterated by this Court in <u>Aetna Casualty</u>, supra, and <u>Streeter</u>, supra.

The Fourth District in this case should be upheld and on the basis of recent legislative action by the Florida Legislature, this issue is moot.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE ENFORCEMENT OF ANY ALIMONY OBLIGATION REQUIRES AN INCOME DEDUCTION ORDER?

The Wife objects to the Husband's rather naked attempt to circumvent the order accepting jurisdiction in the instant case which was based solely on the Fourth District's conflict in this case with the Schorb decision rendered by the Second District.

The <u>Schorb</u> court obviously did not address the issue of whether an Income Deduction Order was mandatory or permissive in cases such as the instant case because it denied its use in any case of alimony absent minor children.

In addition, the Husband selectively picks language in his attempt to defeat the trial court's order. Whether the statute states that it is permissive or mandatory, the facts in this case are that the trial court did so for the continuing obligation as well as arrearages. So the only possible question is whether the trial court could do what it did. It is irrelevant in the instant case whether the trial court had to enter an Income Deduction Order because it did.

It is interesting to note, however, that the Husband cites the 1993 Session Laws as relevant for statutory interpretation of the issues at bar. The Wife agrees and obviously <u>Chapter 93-188</u>, <u>Laws of Florida</u>, <u>Senate Bill 428</u> indicates that it was the desire of the Florida Legislature to have the income deduction available for sole alimony as well as alimony with child support orders.

Further, the Husband argues that there was no basis upon which a deduction for future alimony payments could be made. There was petitioner's own attempt at modification, which was dismissed, which clearly falls within the statutory guideline and there was the Wife's Counter-Petition for Contempt which resulted in the Amended Judgment of Arrearage. Both of those actions fall within the purview of Florida Statutes 61.1301.

Clearly, the Fourth District has not even considered those issues, and the attempt to bring them to the highest Court in the State is violative of this Courts jurisdictional guidelines and the notice filed by the Husband invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons above stated, the Florida Supreme Court should affirm the Fourth District Court of Appeals decision upholding the trial court's Income Deduction Order dated April 22, 1992.

DONALD K. CORBIN, ESQUIRE

Counsel for the Wife

727 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 301 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33304 305-523-4112

Florida Bar Number 179710